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The Tudor Shop, past and present.
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ARTHUR LIBERTY’S SHOPPING EMPORIUM


Liberty, probably London’s best-loved and certainly its most recognizable department store, started life as a small half-shop on Regent Street in 1875. Its founder, Arthur Lasenby Liberty (1843–1917), opened the business selling imported goods from the Far East, tapping into the then current fascination with all things Oriental. A phenomenal success, the rapidly expanding enterprise soon became a byword for a very distinct and highly fashionable style of fabric that is as popular now as it was then.


The eldest of eight children, Arthur Liberty was born in the small market town of Chesham, Buckinghamshire, where his father, also Arthur, was a draper. Following in his footsteps, Arthur was apprenticed at the age of 16 as a draper in Baker Street, London, but after two uninspiring years, found work instead at the highly fashionable Farmer & Rogers Great Shawl & Cloak Emporium on the elegant shopping mile of Regent Street.


Liberty excelled at Farmer & Rogers, and when the store expanded, opening up the Oriental Warehouse next door, he was appointed one of its two employees. Two years later, he was made its manager. The Oriental Warehouse had acquired a considerable number of artefacts from the 1862 London International Exhibition, which they used as their original stock. The exhibition had showcased Japanese arts and crafts, which captured the public imagination, as well as Arthur’s. As he later remarked, the Oriental Warehouse was the only shop in London at the time dealing in “things from the East”. The shop became a mecca for Pre-Raphaelite artists, delighted to find in the soft imported silks the right material to drape over their models, and also for early collectors of Japanese art and blue-and-white porcelain.


Arthur Liberty not only had a fascination for the Eastern goods he was selling, but he also developed a considerable expertise in them. As a result, he made the acquaintance of some of the most exciting artists, designers and architects of his time, including E. W. Godwin, William Morris, Dante Gabriel Rossetti, Edward Burne-Jones and Lawrence Alma-Tadema.


After 10 successful years running the Oriental Warehouse, Arthur, by then in his early thirties and engaged to Emma Louise Blackmore, asked to become partner at Farmer & Rogers. He was refused but, encouraged by promises of loyalty from his artistic customers, decided to establish his own shop. With financial backing from his future father-in-law, he opened East India House, a rather grandiose title for such a tiny shop, at 218A Regent Street, just across from his former employers. A 16-year-old girl, a Japanese boy and an employee from Farmer & Rogers, who had volunteered to work whether he was paid or not, joined him at his new enterprise.
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Arthur Liberty (seated) selects silk fabrics being displayed by John Llewellyn in the Trial Studio in the mid-1880s, along with fellow directors William Street and J. W. House.





With East India House, Arthur Liberty made his name importing beautiful and high-quality fabrics, particularly silks, from Japan, but also from Persia, India and China. Very soon, his wares comprised an astonishing range of exotic goods, from ceramics, Japanese fans, screens, wallpapers, matting and Oriental carpets to all manner of antiques, curios and objets d’art. Arthur’s timing could not have been better. He established his business exactly when all things Japanese were in vogue, and also at the height of the Aesthetic movement, which was characterized by the idea of “art for art’s sake” and an interest in Japanese, classical and medieval art. He was so successful that he was not only able to pay back his loans in full after only 18 months in business, but to acquire the other half of the premises at 218 Regent Street.


Arthur had stated early on that his ambition was to “change the whole taste of fashion and decoration”. Thanks to his great enthusiasm for Eastern arts and crafts, a passion to educate, his keen eye for styles and trends, and an astute talent for business, East India House rapidly became much more than an Oriental bazaar, and Liberty himself a leading ‘retail tastemaker’. From the 1890s, the close association with the Aesthetic movement faded, and Arthur effectively created his own distinctive house look, known as the “Liberty Style”, or as the Italians dubbed it, “Stile Liberty”.
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A newspaper advertisement for Arthur Liberty’s father’s Chesham haberdashery, dating from the early nineteenth century.
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An informal portrait of Arthur Liberty dating from 1911, almost four decades after the establishment of Liberty & Co.
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A postcard view from 1890 depicting East India House. The uniform awning along the length of the shop front is an attempt to unify the disparate architecture.





A sociable man, Arthur had moved in advantageous circles from the beginning of his career. He counted many of the key personalities in art and design at the time as his friends and acquaintances, from the avant-garde designer Christopher Dresser, a fellow admirer of Japanese art, and the architect Richard Norman Shaw to the artist James McNeill Whistler. Since these leading figures were customers as well as friends, whom he visited in their studios, Arthur was in an ideal position to know what would excite and tempt them at East India House. He also realized that these artistic trendsetters would draw wealthy middle-class customers in their wake. Gradually, he expanded the scope of his offerings to appeal to this growing clientele.


Arthur soon approached British manufacturers and started to have dress and furnishing fabrics printed, dyed and woven in Britain. Remarkably soft and subtle, in muted but instantly recognizable patterns and colours, these beautiful, high-quality textiles swiftly became best sellers and world-famous as ‘Liberty Art Fabrics’.


As the business prospered, so the shop expanded, and from the late 1870s, it became known as Liberty & Co., the destination for the artistic shopper. This led to Arthur Liberty acquiring much larger premises on Regent Street, which he named Chesham House, after his birthplace. This new Eastern bazaar, beautifully decorated with antique Japanese goods and extravagantly lit by electric light, was dedicated to carpets, furnishings and Oriental antiques. Further expansion followed until Chesham House came to span 140–150 Regent Street.


Stepping into this exotic emporium from the busy street, shoppers could feel as if they had travelled to foreign parts of the world and entered an enchanting cave. The many rooms of the sprawling premises were hung with Oriental draperies and decorated with objects of rare beauty. Shoppers were seduced with all their senses. Some of the spaces were decorated thematically, such as the Japanese smoking room, which created a stage for the objects on sale and set them into context. There was also an Arab tea room, where customers could take tea and refreshments, but also buy exotic fare such as Indian condiments, Chinese tea and ginger. These marketing strategies seemed to work. A review from the British Mercantile Gazette, January 1884, noted: “This sumptuous establishment, or rather establishments, for there are three or four, is crowded daily to the utmost capacity of its 34 or 35 beautiful rooms, as well as its main shop. It is a positive art education to stroll through these treasure-trove receptacles.”
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The original premises for Liberty & Co. were known as East India House – an eclectic row of mismatched Georgian buildings on Regent Street, seen here in 1912.
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A view of the corner of East India House, looking down Great Marlborough Street (then known as Argyll Place), from the early 1900s.





The store had a furnishing and decorating studio that undertook commissions from all over the world for entire houses or individual rooms, as well as for balls, exhibitions and bazaars. It began to produce its own furniture in an impressively eclectic range of styles, initially Japanese, Moorish, Egyptian and Classical designs, but later including Gothic and Art Nouveau. From 1884, a costume department catered to the needs of sophisticated ladies aspiring to dress themselves, and their children, in the fashionable Aesthetic style.


Soon, customers could find almost anything they needed to furnish a fashionable “artistic” home at Liberty & Co. as it branched out into the design and manufacture of silver- and pewterware, jewellery, ceramics and glass. It commissioned some of the best designers of the time, and collaborated with world-famous British manufacturers such as the pottery firm of William Moorcroft and the metalware maker W. H. Haseler.


Although Arthur Liberty was always keen to promote British design and support British manufacturing, his love for the exotic and the East never ceased. His company continued to import Oriental antiques as well as modern artefacts, relying on a large network of agents and envoys. And in the old English tradition of merchant adventuring, which he so admired, he travelled on holiday with his wife to several of the far-away countries that were the source of his extraordinary merchandise, including Turkey, North Africa and Japan.


Liberty & Co.’s influence on the decorative taste of the time was unparalleled and the store was financially very successful. By the turn of the century, it had over 1,000 employees and, alongside the shopping emporium in Regent Street, there were thriving branches in Paris and Birmingham, and agents selling Liberty’s wares and textiles all over continental Europe, in North America, Australia, China and Japan. Arthur Liberty stepped back from the daily business in 1894, a wealthy man. Three years prior to his death in 1917, aged 74, he was knighted for his services to the decorative arts. As he had no children of his own, he made his nephew Ivor his heir and requested he take on the name of Liberty. It was under Ivor Stewart-Liberty that Liberty & Co. entered the twentieth century, and it was he who commissioned the mock-Tudor building that the store inhabits to this day.
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The interior of the new Tudor Shop carpet department. The galleried atrium was ideal for displaying large rugs and carpets and provided a focal point for the new building.
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THE TUDOR SHOP


When passers-by turn a corner on Regent Street, a striking half-timbered building, that black-and-white landmark that is Liberty’s “Tudor Shop” catches the eye. With its dramatic dark beams and gabled windows, the architecture recalls the Elizabethan period, but it was in fact built and first opened its doors to customers in 1924, a bright example of the mock-Tudor style.


The fashion for mock-Tudor or Tudor revival had started in the middle of the nineteenth century and became all the more fashionable in the first decades of the twentieth century, with its reassuringly “truly English” style. It was influenced by the Arts and Crafts movement in its emphasis on traditional craftsmanship and simple, historical forms.


Arthur Liberty had always had a particular liking for the Tudor period style, with its allusion to the merchant adventurers of the time and ancient guilds of craftsmen. He had died in 1917, but Liberty’s board of directors, under its chairman Ivor Stewart-Liberty, no doubt aware of the founder’s affinity for the style and strongly influenced by the director John Llewellyn, responded to the Crown Estate-mandated remodelling of Regent Street with the decision to build two buildings in two very different styles. The design of the site on Regent Street, a Crown property, adhered out of necessity to the Crown Estate’s very strict regulations and was built as a convex classicistic façade in Portland stone, with Ionic pilasters and a large decorative frieze. The other premises just behind Regent Street, however, which had been slowly acquired over the years, were to be designed in an almost provocatively different fashion as a homage to the Tudor style, which Ivor Stewart-Liberty described in a publication of the time as the “most genuinely English period of domestic architecture”.


The Tudor Shop, like the East India House on Regent Street, was designed by the father and son architects Edwin Thomas and Edwin Stanley Hall. It was inspired by the famous Rows of Chester and built in accordance with the principles of the Arts and Crafts movement. Fittingly for the construction of a ‘flagship’ store, timbers from two nineteenth-century Royal Navy battleships, later training ships, the H.M.S. Impregnable and H.M.S. Hindustan, were used. It was a happy coincidence that one of the ships was the same length and height out of water as the planned building. The interior floors were made of the original deck timbers and were cleaned every night by ex-Royal Navy personnel.


A gabled roofline, Tudor chimneys, leaded bay windows, extensive fine carving around the windows and doors, as well as the use of heraldic emblems and allusions to galleon ships, all combined to create the idiosyncratic charm of the Tudor Shop. The central gable was topped with a gilded weathervane in the model of the ship The Mayflower, while a deep relief carving of craftsmen at work was erected over the left side door to Great Marlborough Street. For one and a half years, over 20 carvers worked on the numerous wooden decorative elements. Many of the interior features of the shop were designed and carried out by Liberty’s own studios and workshops, serving as inspiration for customers and as advertising for Liberty’s interior design department.
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An image of the rebuilding work in progress from the early 1920s, with the partial demolition of the Georgian houses on Regent Street, the completed Tudor Shop to the left and the new south-end bay of East India House to the right.
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The new Tudor Shop was one of the earliest stores to be promoted as a destination in its own right, for both shoppers and tourists.





“ I was determined not to follow existing fashion but to create new ones”


ARTHUR LIBERTY
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A 1968 seascape by Leslie A. Wilcox depicts H.M.S. Impregnable and H.M.S. Hindustan, the two nineteenth-century ships from which timber was plundered in order to build the Tudor Shop in 1924.
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A detail of the clock positioned over the main entrance to the Tudor Shop, erected in 1925. Depicting St George and the Dragon, it was based on the clock at Wells Cathedral in Somerset.
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A section of carved panelling, with bright mock-heraldic shields decorated with castles and rampant-lion motifs, echoes the royal coat of arms and provides a vibrant contrast to the dark wooden panelling.





The inside of the shop was, and still is, arranged around three light wells on four storeys, each surrounded by wood-panelled galleries and even sporting fireplaces, of which some remain to this day. In many ways, Liberty rejected the idea of the more horizontal open-plan American stores that were starting to be built around that time in London, opting instead for a more conservative yet highly individualistic look.


Light wells, for example, were expensive to build and took up a lot of precious floor space, but at the same time became a sign of luxury and of the traditional personal service that Liberty was proud to offer its customers. The design created a welcoming atmosphere ideally suited to its special merchandise, with small, intimate rooms to display its precious goods. As at Liberty’s former location at Chesham House, the wares could be presented in rooms similar in proportion to those in their customers’ homes.


Over the course of the following decades, various refits and minor revamps took place with the result that by the mid-1970s, most of the original panelling was hidden under several layers of more recent coverings. After the great success of the 1975 Centenary Exhibition at the Victoria and Albert Museum, and the corresponding celebrations at the store, it was recognized that the building’s iconic history clearly formed a significant part of the particular appeal of shopping at Liberty. As a result, the original wood panelling was restored to its former glory. Today, the Tudor Shop is a rare example of a store with surviving original features of early twentieth-century shop design.
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Pen and ink sketches from the 1930s, drawn by Liberty designer E. P. Roberts, depict various views of the new Tudor House interior, including the main galleried atrium at the heart of the shop and the country-house-style staircase and fireplace.







[image: ]


A true sense of the scale, harmony and coherence of style of the Tudor Shop can be seen in this present-day panoramic view of Liberty. The frontage is the same length and height as H.M.S. Hindustan.
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